2000

# Marvin W. Hansen v. Reuel S. Kohler : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF CASE

This case has two parts. The first part involves a house on 2.36 acres located in Howell, Box Elder County, Utah, which was owned by the Plaintiffs. The Plaintiffs traded the property as a down payment upon the Robinson property located in Salt Lake County, a four-plex. The agreed value of the property in Howell was \$7,500.00. The Howell property was deeded to Reuel S. Kohler the real estate agent, and his wife, at the request of the Robinsons,

the owner of the four-plex because of a deal involving the Kohlers and Robinsons.

All of the papers pertaining to the four-plex and the Howell property were prepared and left with Mr. Kohler to be held by him, the real estate agent, until the deal was consummated. It developed that the house and lot had been included in a mortgage upon Mr. Hansen's farm at Howell, so Mr. Robinson and Mr. Hansen entered into a new agreement by the terms of which Hansens conveyed to Robinsons a Thunderbird automobile and made a payment as provided by the contract in advance and agreed to pay the Kohlers' commission and that Mr. Kohler was to hold the Howell property as security, for his commission.

The second part of the case involves the Pierces who purchased the Howell property from the Kohlers and the Deed from Kohlers to Pierces was put on record the day before the Lis Pendens was filed against the Kohlers. The Pierces appeared and requested permission to be made Intervening Defendants and Cross Claimants at the time of the pre-trial, claiming damages because of the filing of the Lis Pendens.

#### DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

The Court found in favor of the Defendant, Kohler, and against the Plaintiff, no cause of action (R. 490-491)

The Court awarded damages in favor of the Pierces and against the



Plaintiff in the sum of \$4,166.05 plus interest and costs. (R. 464)

That on a Motion for a New Trial, (R. 467-468), the amount was reduced by \$1,500.00, making a new Judgment of \$2,596.75. (R. 499).

#### RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Plaintiffs ask for reversal of the Judgment in favor of Kohlers and against Plaintiffs, Hansens.

That the Judgment in favor of the Intervening Defendants, Pierces, be reversed and their Counterclaim be dismissed.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

I am dividing the Statement of Facts into two portions. The first one pertaining to the deals between Hansen and Kohler as to the Howell property and the second part is the claim for damages of Pierces against the Hansens for filing a Lis Pendens.

Marvin W. Hansen, Plaintiff, owned the property at Howell, Utah worth \$7,500.00, which was the agreed sales price. Mr. Kohler, a real estate agent, had a listing on a four-plex in Salt Lake County owned by Mr. Kent Robinson. Negotiations were carried on and an Earnest Money Agreement was entered into between Mr. Hansen and Mr. Robinson, (Exhibit 1, R. 9-10).

By the terms of the Earnest Money Receipt, the four-plex was to be conveyed to Marvin W. Hansen by Kent Robinson and Kent Robinson

was to pay the commission to Mr. Kohler of 6 percent on \$39,400.00, total purchase price as provided in the Earnest Money Receipt, (Exhibit 1, R. 9-10), amounting to \$2,364.00. The down payment was \$7,500.00, which was the agreed value of the land and home belonging to the Hansens at Howell, Utah. Hansens also agreed to pay on Robinsons' equity at the rate of \$310.00 per month with a balloon payment of \$2,000.00 on May 15, 1969.

That thereafter on April 1, 1969, a Uniform Real Estate Contract, (Exhibit 2), was entered into and two Deeds were made out at the request of Robinson to and in the name of Reuel S. Kohler and his wife and delivered to Mr. Kohler as the closing agent and real estate agent of the parties. (Exhibit 3 and 4). A closing statement was given to the seller and the buyer and on the Hansens closing statement, they were given credit for \$7,500.00 for the Howell Property, (Exhibit 5), the contract being in accordance with the Earnest Money Receipt.

There was a side deal between Mr. Kohler and Mr. Robinson, by the terms of which Mr. Kohler was to receive the Howell property as part payment of his commission and in addition thereto, Mr. Kohler was to pay to Mr. Robinson, \$2,000.00, for the Howell property. (R.5), and that was why the Deed was made out from the Hansens to Kohlers.

It developed that the house and the 2.36 acres was included in a mortgage on the 450 acre farm owned by Mr. Hansen. When Mr. Robinson and Mr. Hansen found out about the mortgage, they signed a memorandum that inasmuch as the lien could not be cleared at that time, the Hansens authorized the advance of \$1,000.00 of the \$2,000.00 balloon payment of the 15th day of May, to be paid to Robinson to show his good faith.

Mr. Robinson proposed to take an automobile owned by Mr. Hansen a new Ford Thunderbird, (R. 13 and 14), valued at \$5,000.00 to \$5,300.00 (R. 28-29). Mr. Robinson proposed to Mr. Hansen that he give him the Thunderbird and pay the sales commission to Mr. Kohler in place of the Howell property (R. 13, 27-37), and that Mr. Hansen could pay Mr. Kohler the sales commission at a later date and that there would be \$1,000.00 of the \$2,000.00 balloon payment paid immediately to Mr. Robinson. That Mr. Robinson was to take the Hansen car and shop it to see what it was worth. Mr. Robinson proposed to take the car, Mr. Hansen was to assume the commission and that Mr. Kohler retained the possession of the Warranty Deed as security to pay his commission.

On June 12, 1969, Mr. Kohler prepared (Exhibit 8), which provided: "Sellers agree to accept as part of down payment a 1967 Ford Thunderbird automobile. Buyer agrees to pay any and all indebtedness

off against said vehicle and transfer clear title to sellers.

Possession of automobile to be transferred on May 10, 1969. This is a condition of the completion of the sale of four-plex located at 562 North 7th West, Salt Lake City, Utah. Failure to comply with this agreement constitutes a default in above said property."

Paragraph No. 2 provided: "Buyers agree to transfer title to home and acreage in Howell, Utah, to Reuel S. Kohler and Dolores M. Kohler, his wife. Warranty Deed was executed April 1, 1969."

This Deed was being held in trust at that time by Mr. Kohler.

There was no agreement to change the status.

That under the terms of the original listing agreement, Mr. Robinson was to pay the commission to Mr. Kohler. There is nothing said in the Exhibits 7 and 8 as to who was to pay Mr. Kohler's commission, but the uncontradicted testimony of Mr. Hansen is that he was to pay the commission and that the property heretofore conveyed to Mr. Kohler in trust was to be held as security for the payment of Mr. Kohler's commission. Mr. Hansen asked why the Deed was made to Kohler and they told him that they had a little deal of their own pertaining to this property and for him to convey it directly to Mr. Kohler and they would handle the Warranty Deed themselves, which did not change Mr. Hansen's basic program (R. 23).

There was a very friendly relationship among the three of them. Mr. Hansen had delivered the car to Mr. Robinson on May 10, 1969, and the new agreement was not signed until June 12, 1969, and during the entire period of this readjustment, the Deed to the property was being held by Mr. Kohler, which was always in trust.

Mr. Hansen testified pertaining to this transaction as follows:

"Well, this is the conversation that took place in the office between Kent Robinson, Mr. Kohler and Myself, and this is where we agreed that I would pay the sales commission and that Mr. Kohler would hold the Warranty Deed. (R. 16)

Q. Is there anything in the agreement in regard to the commission?

A. The way this was worded is what I questioned at the time of the wording, and then it was right then it was stated, "We all agree to that."

Q. What was stated at the time?

A. That I was to pay Mr. Kohler the commission. He was to hold my property for collateral."

That the assuming of the commission and the transferring of the car was to be the \$7,500.00 down payment. Mr. Hansen did not intend to give property of \$7,500.00 for the commission (R. 28)

Mr. Robinson told Mr. Hansen that the blue book value of the automobile was \$5,300.00 (R. 28) The Thunderbird automobile was not paid for and Mr. Hansen agreed to make payments, which he did.

Mr. Hansen offered to get the cash on his insurance policy to pay the real estate commission, but Mr. Kohler stated that he would be very secure holding the property for his collateral on the commission and that he would continue to try to sell the Howell property and that Mr. Kohler was to get his commission on the Howell property when he sold it. (R. 30).

That the keys were given to Mr. Kohler when they completed the first deal, (R. 32), before they found the encumbrance against the entire farm. Hansen talked to Kohler as to what he owed him and he owed him \$7,500.00 less sales commission. They talked before and after they signed the agreement. The arrangement was never dropped. It was talked about at every conversation between Kohler and Hansen. (R. 33 and 34).

If Mr. Kohler is allowed to retain the Howell property, then he is being unjustly enriched.

That after the deal was closed, Mr. Kohler came to where Mr. Hansen was working and wanted to know about the sewage system and he said he was very small when it was laid out and he drew a diagram.

Mr. Kohler said that he had someone on contract, a prospective buyer for the house. At that time, and he did not tell Mr. Hansen who, that if they get the sewer system working satisfactorily for the prospective buyer, then he felt that he had it sold and we could get together on a settlement. This conversation occurred about the middle of August or the middle of September. (R. 17). About two weeks after that, Mr. Hansen and Mr. Kohler had a conversation in which Mr. Kohler said he had not settled anything absolutely on the place, but he would be in touch with Mr. Hansen. Mr. Kohler was going to try to sell the Howell property for Mr. Hansen. (R. 18).

Sometime thereafter, about six or seven months later, Mr. Hansen went to the office of Mr. Kohler and Mr. Kohler then told Mr. Hansen he was not going to make any settlement. He said, "You will just have to sue me. I am not going to make a settlement. " (R. 18-19).

Then Mr. Hansen got in touch with the Department of Business Regulation, Real Estate Division, and filed a Complaint by sending them a letter (R. 19, Exhibit 9).

Mr. Kohler answered the Complaint and the Real Estate Board notified Mr. Hansen that he should bring a suit. (R. 20) and (Exhibit 24), Minutes of Board Meeting.

That the mortgage to the First Security Bank was paid as a result of the provision in the agreement of the sale. Mr. Hansen sold the property with the understanding that the mortgage would be paid off. That the mortgage to the bank on the farm was paid on November 9, 1970. (R. 36)

That Mr. Hansen's version of the transaction was stated in response to the Court's question to him on Page 37 as follows:

"THE COURT: I had one question. Why did you agree to transfer your 1967 Ford Thunderbird automobile to Mr. Robinson as part of the down payment?

A. Well, in other words, that takes the place of the Howell property. That and the sales commission on the four-plex, which Robinson would normally pay to Mr. Kohler, I was to pay that and the car constituting the \$7,500.00 down payment."

#### PART II OF THE STATEMENT OF FACTS

THIS IS THE SECTION OF THE BRIEF WHICH DISCUSSES THE FACTS WHICH PERTAIN TO THE CLAIM OF THE PIERCES AGAINST THE HANSENS.

After Hansen and Robinson consummated the deal, Mr. Hansen would ask for a report from Mr. Kohler and he told him that it looked like he was going to make a sale of the Howell property. Finally, Mr. Kohler told Mr. Hansen he would not make settlement with him and



he would have to sue him. (R. 18. 19). The following transactions occurred pertaining to the Howell property:

September 5, 1969, a Lease was entered into between Kohlers and the Pierces. (R. 91, Exhibit 10).

October 1, 1970, a Uniform Real Estate Contract was entered into between the Kohlers and Pierces. (R. 93, 94, Exhibit 11).

November 9, 1970, the mortgage on the farm which included the house was paid to the First Security Bank. (R. 36).

April 2, 1971, Complaint letter of Hansen to the State of Utah, Department of Business Regulation, Real Estate Division. (R. 19, Exhibit 9).

May 4, 1971, letter from Kohler to Real Estate Division, offered in evidence, not received. (R. 138, Exhibit 25).

Minutes of Division of Real Estate consisting of minutes of June 16, 1971, June 17, 1971, June 24, 1971, and August 18, 1971, at which meeting the Board recommended, "that Mr. Kohler pay Mr. Hansen \$4,686.00 (this is the difference between the \$7,500.00 value placed on the home and the commission of \$2,364.00 and the commission to Mr. Kohler of \$450.00 for selling the Howell Home). Mr. Kohler is to inform the Real Estate Division within ten days if this matter has been satisfactorily concluded." (R. 136, Exhibit 24).

October 7, 1971, Complaint in this case was filed.

October 18, 1971, Deed from Kohler to Pierces, (Exhibit 12) and Real Estate Mortgage to the Farm Home Administration. (Exhibit 14).

October 18, 1971, two title insurance policies, one to protect mortgagor, Farm Home Administration and one to protect the Pierces. (Exhibit 14 and 15)

October 19, 1971, Lis Pendens was filed. (Exhibit 16)

March 12, 1971, Marv Hansen and his attorney talked to Mrs. Pierce at Howell, Utah. Conversation at Howell, Mrs. Pierce said that they had a Deed and the Hansens informed Mrs. Pierce that they had a lawsuit against Kohler, but that the Pierces had nothing to worry about as long as they had title insurance because they would be protected by the title insurance.

March 28, 1972, Earnest Money Receipt. (R. 105, Exhibit 17), Nicholas to Pierce. Sales Price \$12,300.00.

April, 1972, Pierces moved to Texas. (R. 99, 168).

May 30, 1972, Letter from Mr. Roe to Attorney Hadfield setting out that Mr. Roe did not consider that the Lis Pendens was an encumbrance on the property and a letter from Hadfield to Roe in which he stated that he did not consider the Lis Pendens an encumbrance. (Exhibit 21).

November 13, 1972, conversation of Mr. and Mrs. Pierce and Mr. Robbins in his office. Mr. Robbins advised them that they should get in touch

with their title insurance company and if the title insurance company would not do anything, then they should consult an attorney.

December 11, 1972, Pre-trial, Pierces attorney orally asked to file Motion. The first written notice that Hansens had of a claim being made by the Pierces was Answer and Motion to Intervene and Counterclaim filed on January 2, 1973.

We have re-read the Cross Complaint and Counterclaim, (R. 319-320, 321-322, 324) and there is nothing in the pleadings which asks that the Lis Pendens be removed. The entire pleadings and the case pertain to collection of damages.

March 6, 1973, Judgment of D & B Electric against Pierces was abstracted in the District Court of Box Elder County. (R. 228, 232).

The sale of the property in the sum of \$12,500.00 from the Griffiths which deal was not consummated because of the taxes and the Judgment against the Pierces. (R. 228, 229, 231).

June 19, 1973, Preliminary title report of O. Dee Lund of the sale to the Griffiths, (R. 227, 228), which report sets out that the Lis Pendens was not a lien and he advised the Griffiths that they could buy the property because the Lis Pendens only affected after acquired property.

ARGUMENT  
PART I  
POINT I

PROPERTY CONVEYED IN TRUST AS SECURITY. THAT IF KOHLER KEEPS THE PROCEEDS FROM THE HOWELL PROPERTY, HE HAS BEEN UNJUSTLY ENRICHED.

Plaintiffs ask in their Complaint that the defendants be required to reconvey the property to the Plaintiffs or if they cannot reconvey the property, then they pay to the Plaintiffs the difference between \$7,500.00 and the commission together with interest at the rate of seven percent, and the said amount be declared to be a lien upon the property and for such other and further relief as the Court deems just and equitable and costs.

The original deal and the original Deed was made out from Hansens to Kohlers. Kohler was a real estate agent and the closing agent and was to hold the Deed to the Howell property and all instruments in trust until the deal was consummated. There was nothing in the subsequent writings which changed the relationship of Kohler as Trustee.

The property in a regular deal should have been deeded to Mr. Robinson, but because of a side deal between Kohler and Robinson, it was deeded to Mr. Kohler. Mr. Kohler never at any time had any interest in the property except his real estate commissions.

If Mr. Kohler is to retain the property, he has been unjustly enriched in the approximate sum of \$5,000.00.

Therefore, there is either a resulting trust or a constructive trust.

Mr. Kohler only had in the Howell property his sales commission. In the first deal, he was to pay \$2,000.00 to Robinson and his commissions before he got the Howell property.

We have numerous cases in Utah pertaining to resulting and constructive trusts. In the case of Hawkins vs. Perry, 253 P. 2d, page 372, it cites other Utah cases. I will discuss the Hawkins vs Perry case for the general rule of law and make short comments about the cases cited therein. The Plaintiff, Hawkins, was a boy sixteen years of age who had saved \$300.00. He gave this money to his uncle, who was a minister and asked him to buy a piece of property and the title to the property was taken in the name of his uncle and his uncle's wife. The Court discusses in this case the distinction between a resulting or constructive trust and on page 375 of the Pacific the Court states:

"The constructive trust \* \* \* is to be distinguished from a resulting trust. Where A's money is used by B with A's consent in purchasing property in the name of B, a resulting trust arises in favor of A. Where A's money is used by B without A's consent in purchasing property in B's name, B holds the property upon a constructive trust for A. In the former case, the resulting trust arises because of the presumed intention of the parties. In the latter case, the constructive trust is imposed upon B to prevent his unjust enrichment."

We contend there was an agency between Kohlor and Hansen and there

was a confidential relationship and that Mr. Kohler was unjustly enriched. He got a \$7,500.00 house at Howell, Utah, which ultimately was mortgaged for \$10,500.00. for his commission of \$2,364.00 and on page 375 of the Hawkins v. Perry case which quotes from a Utah case of Chadwick v. Arnold, 34 Utah 48, 95 P. 527, note [4] states:

"[4] Equity imposes a constructive trust to prevent one from unjustly profiting through fraud or the violation of a duty imposed under a fiduciary or confidential relationship. The Utah decision of Chadwick v. Arnold declares \* \* \* that a trust ex maleficio [constructive trust] arises whenever a person acquires the legal title to property of another by means of an intentional false or fraudulent verbal promise to hold the same for a certain purpose, and having thus obtained the title, retains and claims the property as his own." It is now well recognized that actual fraud is not necessary, but may be presumed where there is a relationship of confidence between the parties to a transaction and there are "other circumstances tending to show that some advantage had been taken by the dominant party with a consequent abuse of confidence."

In Haws v. Jensen, we quote:

"A constructive trust will be imposed even though at the time of the transfer the transferee intended to perform the agreement, and even though he was not guilty of undue influence in procuring the conveyance. The abuse of the confidential relation consists merely in the failure of the transferee to perform his promise."

In the case of Haws v. Jensen, 209 P. 2d 229, 116 U. 212, a mother conveyed property to her daughter for the purpose of the property being maintained for the rest of her brothers and sisters. The daughter died and her husband claimed the property. He maintained that the

statute of frauds applied, but the Court on page 231 states:

"[1,2] Admittedly there is no writing evidencing Mrs. Haws' intention that the property conveyed by her be held in trust by Amber. However, under certain circumstances existing at the time a conveyance in trust is made, no writing evidencing an intent to create a trust is required. In those instances, equity will impress a constructive trust upon the property in favor of the person or persons designated by the grantor as the beneficiary or beneficiaries of the oral trust. A constructive trust, being an equitable remedy to prevent unjust enrichment, arises by operation of law and is not within the statute of frauds. Section 45(1) (b), of the Restatement of the Law of Trusts is applicable to the facts of the instant case:

' (1) Where the owner of an interest in land transfers in inter vivos to another in trust for a third person, but no memorandum properly evidencing the intention to create a trust is signed, and the transferee refuses to perform the trust, the transferee holds the interest upon a constructive trust for third person.'"

And further, on Page 232, the Court says:

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