2000

Marvin W. Hansen v. Reuel S. Kohler : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE WARRANTY DEED TRANSFERRING THE HOWELL PROPERTY TO THE KOHLERS WAS NOT INTENDED AS A SECURITY INSTRUMENT.

The crucial factor in determining whether the conveyance of the Howell property to the Kohlers was absolute or as security is the intention of the parties at the time of execution and delivery of the warranty deed. Kjar v. Brimley, 27 Utah 2d 411, 497 P.2d 23 (1972). The undisputed testimony of Mr. Hansen indicates the absolute nature of the transfer:

Q: When you first entered into this transaction with Robinson, there was no question in your mind, was there, that you were going to transfer the Howell house?

A. None whatsoever.

Q. Absolutely?

A. True.

Q. You were to have no interest in that?

A. Right. (Tr. 22).

At the time of the transfer the Hansens knew of the transaction between the Kohlers and Mr. Robinson under which the Kohlers would acquire the Howell property:

Q. What did they tell you [as to why you were conveying the property to Mr. and Mrs. Kohler instead of the Robinsons]?

- A. They told me they had a little deal of their own pertaining to this property and for me to convey it directly to Mr. Kohler and they would handle the warranty deeds themselves, which wouldn't change my basic program.
- Q. So that you were still going to be obligated to give that Howell property free and clear?
- A. True.
- Q. That was your understanding, that it was to be free and clear, wasn't it?
- A. True.
- Q. And you weren't to get any cash back or anything else?
- A. That's right.
- Q. I suppose it was fairly clear in your mind that under the transaction between Kohler and Robinson, Robinson was going to convey or arrange the conveyance of the Howell property to the Kohlers?
- A. That was true.
- Q. And that was going to be as an absolute conveyance and not a mortgage?
- A. That's true. (Tr. 23).

The nature of the transfer itself indicates that an absolute conveyance was intended. The property was transferred by warranty deed and there was no competent evidence that it was meant to be something else. In Bybee v. Stuart, 112 Utah 462, 189 P.2d 118 (1948), the grantor executed a warranty deed, absolute in form, in return for the grantee's

premises to advance moneys necessary to pay off certain creditors who were about to foreclose on his land. Contemporaneous with the deed, and as part of the same transaction, an agreement was entered into whereby the grantee consented to reconvey the property upon the payment of the indebtedness. Under these particular circumstances the court properly held an absolute conveyance was not intended. The court did, however, comment on the nature of title generally transferred by virtue of a warranty deed:

It is true, of course, that a warranty deed, absolute in form, is presumed to convey a fee simple title, or at least whatever title the grantor has." 189 P.2d at 122.

A court in equity may show by parol evidence that a deed absolute on its face was given for security purposes only if the evidence is clear, definite, unequivocal and conclusive. Thornley Land & Livestock Co. v. Garley, 105 Utah 519, 143 P.2d 283 (1943); Corey v. Roberts, 82 Utah 445, 25 P.2d 940 (1933); Northcrest Inc. v. Walker Bank and Trust Co., 122 Utah 268, 248 P.2d 692 (1952). With respect to the standard and quality of evidence required to establish an oral trust the following language from Chambers v. Emery, 13 Utah 374, 45 Pac. 192, 195 (1896) has been cited frequently by this court:

In such event the proof must be strong, clear, and convincing, such as to leave no

doubt of the existence of the trust. Such a case is similar to one where it is attempted to convert a deed absolute into a mortgage, or where the reformation of a written instrument is sought on the ground of accident, mistake, or fraud. In all such cases the court will scrutinize parol evidence with great caution, and the plaintiff must fail unless it is clear, definite, unequivocal, and conclusive. Public policy, and the safety and security of titles to real estate, demand this rule, because such evidence is offered to overcome the strong presumption, arising from the terms and conditions of an instrument in writing, which is always the best evidence of title. If it were once established that the effect of the terms of a written instrument could be avoided by a bare preponderance of parol evidence, the gates to perjury would soon be wide open, and no person could longer rest in the security of his title to property, however solemn might be the instrument on which it was founded. 45 Pac. at 195.

In Jewell v. Horner, 12 Utah 2d 328, 366 P.2d 594 (1961), the father transferred property to his daughter by an outright conveyance subject to life estates for him and his wife. After their death the plaintiff sons alleged the conveyance was in safekeeping for all the children. There was conflicting testimony as to the father's actual intent. The court relied on the absolute nature of the deed in holding for the daughter:

The transfer of his home by the father to Ethel was made by a deed absolute, subject only to the life estates, and the authorities are practically uniform to the point that to justify a court in determining from oral testimony that a deed which purports to convey land

absolutely in fee simple was intended to be something different, such as a trust, such testimony must be clear and convincing. The proof must be something more than the modicum of evidence which this court sometimes holds to be sufficient to warrant a finding where the matter is not so serious as the overthrow of a clearly-expressed deed, solemnly executed and delivered. 366 P.2d at 597.

Appellants allege that the Kohlers were to hold the deed to the Howell property and all instruments in trust until the deal was consummated. This allegation is contrary to the express terms of the warranty deed and has not been shown by a preponderance, let alone by clear and convincing evidence. The evidence establishes that the Kohlers received an absolute title to the subject property, and thereafter, Mr. Hansen gave him the keys to the home on the premises, did not challenge Kohler's right to put a tenant in possession and retain the rents, and even delivered tax notices on the property to the Kohlers for payment.

The agreement of June 12, 1969 (Exhibit 8), provides expressly that the conveyance to the Kohlers is to be part of the down payment. Mr. Hansen read the agreement before he signed it (Tr. 28). He was knowledgeable about deeds and mortgages (Tr. 21).

It is finally contended that subsequent to June 12, 1969, Kohler agreed to sell the property for Mr. Hansen

and to work out a settlement. Any such agreement could not establish a trust relationship. In Skeen v. Marriott, 22 Utah 73, 61 Pac. 296 (1900) the court stated:

* * * nor are declarations of a purpose to create a trust, or mere voluntary promises to give property to a person or persons, or to dispose of it in the future for the benefit of such person or persons, when such promises remain unfulfilled, sufficient to create a trust, or any right which a court of equity will enforce. Nor is a mere intention or mere voluntary agreement to create a trust, where the owner of the property contemplates some further action by him to make it effectual, sufficient to establish a trust. 61 Pac. at 300.

And in Hansen v. Hansen, 110 Utah 222, 171 P.2d 392 (1946) the court quoted the following from Breach on Trusts and Trustees, Sec. 52:

In the creation of a trust in personalty, as well as in real estate, the language employed must be definite and positive. * * * In addition to this, the proof of the trust must be unequivocal. The declaration of a purpose to create a trust is of no value, and a promise to make a donation at some future time, where there is no consideration, at best is only an imperfect gift, and will not be upheld as a trust. 171 Pac. 21 at 397.

The only testimony offered was that of Marvin Hansen. Plaintiffs did not call Kent Robinson, with whom the contract was made.

POINT II

ANY MODIFICATION OF THE APRIL 2, 1969, WARRANTY DEED WAS REQUIRED TO BE IN WRITING.

For the purpose of the original transaction, the Howell property was valued at \$7,500.00 and constituted Hansen's down payment on the purchase of the Robinson four-plex. When it was subsequently discovered the property was encumbered by a \$19,000.00 mortgage the property no longer was an adequate down payment and something else had to be done to assure performance of the contract. Mr. Hansen testified:

Q. And when that occurred [discovery of the mortgage] it looked like your deal with Mr. Robinson wasn't going to go through, didn't it?

A. Well, we had to do something, that was obvious.

The parties then agreed that Robinson, in addition to the Howell property, would accept as further down payment Hansen's 1967 Ford Thunderbird automobile. This agreement was set forth in the June 12, 1969, supplemental agreement which also contained the following provision:

Buyers agree to transfer title to home and acreage in Howell, Utah, to Reuel S. Kohler and Dolores M. Kohler, his wife. Warranty Deed was executed 1 April, 1969.

* * *

Buyers and sellers agree that this together with other terms defined in said contract constitutes the down payment.

As of April 2, 1969, there is no dispute that the Kohlers held title to the Kohler property in fee simple absolute. To subsequently divest the Kohlers of this interest would require a written surrender subscribed to by the Kohlers. Section 25-5-5 Utah Code Annotated provides:

No estate or interest in real property, other than leases for a term not exceeding one year, nor any trust or power over or concerning real property or in any manner relating thereto, shall be created, granted, assigned, surrendered or declared otherwise than by act or operation of law, or by deed or conveyance in writing subscribed by the party creating, granting, assigning, surrendering or declaring the same, or by his lawful agent thereunto authorized by writing.

The June 12, 1969, agreement does not on its face purport to divest in any manner the absolute nature of the Kohlers' interest in the Howell property. Rather, this agreement makes specific reference to the April 1, 1969, warranty deed and confirms its terms. Nothing in either the warranty deed or June 12, 1969, agreement substantiates appellants' contention that the Kohlers held the property in trust until the real estate commission was paid.

The trial court found that any agreements made subsequent to June 12, 1969, respecting reconveyance of the Howell property to appellants were too vague and uncertain,

were oral, and were without consideration. In Bybee v. Stuart, supra, this court held an oral surrender of an interest in property is ineffectual under the Statute of Frauds under circumstances similar to the case at bar.

The court stated:

[D]efendant testified to a conversation between himself and his brother, Oni, by which it is claimed Oni orally surrendered to defendant any interest he had in the property. The court found that such a conversation did take place, and his finding is cross-assigned as error by the appellees. However, the court found that this purported surrender was ineffectual under the Statute of Frauds - Secs. 33-5-1 and 33-5-3, U.C.A., 1943. Defendant contends that Oni Stuart's oral surrender of his interest in the premises was valid.

We deem it unnecessary to pass upon appellees' cross-assignment of error, since we are of the opinion that even if such conversation took place as was testified to by defendant, it was within the Statute of Frauds and therefore unenforceable. 189 P.2d at 122.

POINT III

THE DOCTRINES OF RESULTING OR CONSTRUCTIVE TRUSTS ARE NOT APPLICABLE.

Appellants in their brief rely on the equitable principles of a resulting or constructive trust to compel the Kohlers to either reconvey the Howell property or to pay appellants the difference between the \$7,500.00 "value" of the property and Mr. Kohler's commission. Reliance on these doctrines is unfounded, however, as the factual circumstances of this case preclude their applicability.

Section 404 of Restatement 2d, Trusts, indicates these circumstances in which resulting trusts arise:

A resulting trust arises where a person makes or causes to be made a disposition of property under circumstances which raise an inference that he does not intend that the person taking or holding the property should have the beneficial interest therein, unless the inference is rebutted or the beneficial interest is otherwise effectively disposed of.

There are three situations where a resulting trust may arise: (1) where a private or charitable trust fails in whole or in part; (2) where a private or charitable trust is fully performed without exhausting the trust estate; and (3) where property is purchased and the purchase price is paid by one person and at his direction the vendor transfers the property to another person. Restatement 2d, Trusts, Chapter 12, General Principles. None of the situations above-described are present in the instant case and it is therefore improper to consider this case under a resulting trust theory.

In order to establish a constructive trust there must be some fraudulent or unfair and unconscionable conduct in the transaction by which the trustee acquires the property rendering it inequitable for the trustee to retain absolute title. 89 C.J.S., Trusts, §139. In certain situations where a fiduciary relationship exists between the parties the courts in equity will presume fraud. In Hawkins v. Perry,

123 Utah 16, 253 P.2d 372 (1953), the court observed:

Equity imposes a constructive trust to prevent one from unjustly profiting through fraud or the violation of a duty imposed under a fiduciary or confidential relationship. 253 P.2d at 375.

In Renshaw v. Tracy Loan and Trust Co., 87 Utah 364, 49 P.2d 403 (1935), the court commented:

It is true that, upon the establishment of certain fiduciary relationship and transactions between the parties to that relationship, equity will presume fraud, the abuse of confidence, and place the burden of proving good faith and fairness upon the dominant party in the relationship. In such cases the presumption of fraud may be based upon the relationship alone and relieves the party from proving the fraud, but the fraud is nevertheless an essential element. By the presumption equity supplies that element. The relationships wherein such presumption has been indulged are parent and child, principal and agent, attorney and client, guardian and ward, executor or administrator and heir, beneficiary or distributee. In other cases the presumption of fraud has been given effect when there has been a relationship of confidence plus other circumstances tending to show that some advantage had been taken by the dominant party with a consequent abuse of confidence. 49 P.2d at 404.

In Renshaw the court had to determine whether a relationship of employer and employee alone would raise a presumption of fraud in a transaction where the employee loaned the employer some money. The court held the mere employee-employer relationship, standing alone, would not raise the presumption

of fraud and that facts establishing such an abuse of confidence placed as would warrant fraud would have to be shown. The court stated:

It is not every relationship to which the term "fiduciary" or "confidential" might be applied with some degree of reason or plausibility that will authorize, by itself alone, the creation of the presumption of fraud in the dealings between each other of those occupying that relationship. Every business transaction involves a certain amount of confidence and trust. Equity will not discourage transactions by creating presumptions of their fraudulent nature, except in those cases where the transactions occur between parties to relationships which by their very nature it is the policy of the law to protect one of the parties thereto on the theory that they are not dealing on an equal basis because of the confidence which one party to the relationship is presumed to have in the other. See Perry on Trusts and Trustees (6th Ed.) §194; 2 Pomeroy's Eq. Juris. (4th Ed.) §§955, 956. It is always a question, therefore, of the actual relationship between the parties that must be inquired into, and not whether the terms "fiduciary," "confidential," or "trust" can, with some degree of reason, be applied to the relationship. 49 P.2d at 404.

In Bradbury v. Rassmussen, 16 Utah 2d 378, 401 P.2d 710 (1965), the plaintiffs brought an action to declare null and void a warranty deed, a lease agreement, and a transfer of water stock certificates to their niece and her husband. Plaintiffs alleged that the defendant represented the transaction to be a sale of the farm and water stock when the documents, in fact, purported to make a gift of such property.

The court held the confidence and trust which plaintiffs had in the defendants was not sufficient to establish such a confidential relationship as would raise a presumption of unfairness in the transaction or a finding of undue influence. The court stated:

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